**RECEIVED**

**Jul 13 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT  
Ralph K. Anderson, III, Administrative Law Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-001689  
Case No. 2020ALJ300064AP

---

South Carolina Technical College System, ..... Appellant,

v.

Carla Jackson and South Carolina  
Department of Administration, ..... Respondents,

Of whom, Carla Jackson is the ..... Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

ANDREW F. LINDEMANN  
LINDEMANN & DAVIS, P.A.  
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202  
Post Office Box 6923  
Columbia, South Carolina 29260  
(803) 881-8920

WARREN V. GANJEHSANI

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Administrative Law Court err in finding that the Respondent is an employee cover by the State Employee Grievance Procedure Act, and in finding as a result that the State Employee Grievance Committee and the Court had subject matter jurisdiction over the Respondent's grievance?
  - A. Did the Administrative Law Court err in remanding the jurisdictional issue to the Committee for additional fact-finding?
  - B. Did the Administrative Law Court err by failing to apply a *de novo* standard when reviewing the jurisdictional facts as determined by the State Employee Grievance Committee?
  - C. Did the Administrative Law Court err in failing to find that the preponderance of the evidence established that the Respondent held the position of Interim Dean of Business, Computers and Related Technologies at the time of her termination?
  - D. Did the Administrative Law Court err in failing to find that the Respondent is judicially bound by the representations in her State Employee Grievance Procedure State Appeal Form that she held the position of Interim Dean at the time of her termination?
  
- II. Did the Administrative Law Court err in refusing to hear the merits of the Appellant's appeal that Denmark Technical College had valid reasons to terminate the Respondent and there was substantial evidence in the record to support that termination decision?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **I. Statement of Facts**

The Respondent Carla Jackson began her employment with Denmark Technical College (“DTC”) on January 4, 2011, as an Administrative Coordinator I to provide support to the DTC President’s Office. (R. 88). Jackson described her primary duties in this role as “basically manag[ing]” the DTC President’s Office to assist the DTC President “with the executive level documents” and “to assist the executive staff as well.” (R. 524).

Jackson testified that on October 1, 2013, she applied for tuition reimbursement assistance from DTC in connection with a master’s degree in business administration (“MBA”) that she was seeking at American Intercontinental University (“AIU”). (R. 526-529). She stated that her supervisor at the time was Dr. Joann Boyd-Scotland, DTC’s President, and that Theresa Mack was DTC’s Title III director. (R. 528-530). DTC’s Institutional Advancement Policy No. 2-1-008 set forth the conditions to which faculty and staff seeking professional development were required to comply to receive Title III funds for tuition reimbursement. (R. 944-945). DTC’s Policy mandated that a six-step process be followed for approval of tuition reimbursement assistance, including obtaining the signatures of at least five different DTC officials (in addition to the applicant) on the application in a specific sequence. (R. 944-949).

DTC’s former president and Jackson’s supervisor (subsequent to Dr. Boyd-Scotland), Dr. Leonard McIntyre, testified that five signatures were required on the application and had to be obtained in the following order: those of the applicant-employee’s “immediate supervisor,” “[the] department head” or dean, “the VP or the division head,” the “director of grants and

contracts,” and finally DTC’s president. (R. 467). It was evident from Jackson’s testimony and the application she submitted that the mandated process was not followed by her or DTC because her application lacked some of the necessary signature authorizations. Jackson signed the application, thereby attesting to her agreement with all applicable conditions which had to be met to obtain tuition reimbursement. (R. 553-556, 944-949).

Jackson enrolled at AIU in November 2013. (R. 822). Her AIU tuition and fee schedule reflected a two-year MBA program consisting of four quarters of instruction. (R. 823-825). Section VI(B) of SCTCS Procedure 8-10-100.1 (“System Advancement Policy”) limited tuition assistance to “no more than six (6) credit hours per academic term per employee.” (R. 885). Section VI(F)(4) of the System Advancement Policy provides that “[e]mployees requesting tuition assistance w[ould] be notified of approval/disapproval as soon as possible *before the class start date.*” (R. 887). (Emphasis added). Section VI(F)(5) of the System Advancement Policy required an employee seeking tuition assistance to “present official documentation of the *grade achieved* for the course *from the college or university attended*” in order “to be reimbursed.” (R. 887). (Emphasis added). The System Advancement Policy further required that a grade of “B” or above be received to qualify for tuition reimbursement for graduate-level courses. (R. 886).

Carla Jackson sought and received payment from DTC for two courses – “MGT600” (Business Research for Decision Making) and “MGT680” (Strategic Management) – for which her official AIU transcript reflected that no “Grade” or “Quality Points” were awarded, because these “courses” were *transfer credits* (as indicated thereon by the letters “TC”) for coursework completed at another educational institution. (R. 630-634, 972-989). Although Jackson testified that the transfer credits were from “Strayer University,” her transcript reflected that they were from “Springfield College.” (R. 527, 561, 978-981).

Despite the fact Jackson’s transcript showed that she earned no grade or Quality Points for these two courses, she submitted documents to DTC reflecting that (1) she earned an “A” grade in MGT600 at AIU but no Quality Points and (2) she earned what appeared to be an “A” grade in MGT680 at AIU (under a column entitled “Actions”) and six Quality Points – though for reasons unknown this same document reflected the number “6.000” under the “Letter Grade” column. (R. 974, 976). Jackson obtained tuition “reimbursement” from DTC by submitting a Direct Expenditure Voucher dated April 5, 2015 for MGT600 and another Direct Expenditure Voucher dated May 1, 2015 for MGT680. (R. 972-977). Each of the two Direct Expenditure Vouchers was in the amount of \$3,492.00, for a total of \$6,984.00. Documents Jackson submitted in connection with the Direct Expenditure Vouchers reflected that both were AIU courses that started on October 6, 2014 and ended on December 14, 2014 – yet neither MGT600 nor MGT680 appeared on her AIU transcript corresponding to those (or any other) dates. (R. 972-980). Jackson also appeared to have taken another course that began and ended on those October-December 2014 dates, BUS610 (“Economics for the Global Manager”), which meant these documents collectively suggested that she took *three* courses during the October to December 2014 term for a total of *18 credit hours* – twelve hours more than was permitted by policy. (R. 885, 980). DTC business manager Jamie Wise testified that the Direct Expenditure Vouchers for MGT600 and MGT680 appeared to have been falsified. (R. 630-631).

Carla Jackson admitted that transfer credits accounted for some of the credit used toward obtaining her MBA, which enabled her to complete the AIU two-year program in one year – sometime in 2014. (R. 557-562). She admitted that DTC paid her the cost of *two years’ worth of instruction* at AIU despite her having only completed one year of instruction there. (R. 557-562, 972-977, 985-989). Jackson received \$27,936.00 – the total cost of the AIU degree

program – from DTC in connection with her obtaining an MBA. (R. 557-562, 972-989). Jackson testified that she realized that SCTCS Procedure 8-0-105.1 (“System Ethics Policy”) and the State Ethics Act prohibited an employee such as her from using her position for personal gain. (R. 581-582, 846-850, 889-895).

Jackson was in the Administrative Coordinator position until October 1, 2015, when she became Interim Dean of Transitional Studies and Distance Education. (R. 576). She testified that she no longer performed the Administrative Coordinator duties or worked in the President’s Office as of October 1, 2015, except for a brief period of three months or less immediately thereafter to assist the person who “fill[ed]” her “old position” to transition into this role. (R. 576-578). Gwendolyn Bamberg filled Jackson's previous role as Administrative Coordinator when Jackson vacated it to become Interim Dean of Transitional Studies and Distance Education. (R. 2).

In October 2016, Jackson became the Interim Dean of Business, Computers, and Related Technologies. (R. 469). An “Interim Dean” position description for Jackson described her duties as providing “curricular leadership in relation to ... academic programs,” supervising “the administration of and ensur[ing] the academic quality of academic advising and special programs,” and being “[r]esponsible for human resource management of unit faculty and staff.” (R. 937-938).

In 2016, the Appellant South Carolina Technical College System (“SCTCS”) received several complaints through its fraud hotline alleging incidents of self-dealing, abuse, and mismanagement at the “highest levels” of DTC, and Jackson was the focal point of many of these allegations. (R. 90, 722). Jackson was suspended pending an investigation on February 15, 2017. (R. 90). In April 2017, a report generated in connection with SCTCS’s investigation

recommended that Jackson be terminated from DTC for willful violations of written rules, regulations, or written policies. (R. 722-724).

By letter dated May 11, 2017, Carla Jackson was terminated retroactive to her February 15, 2017 suspension date for “willful violation of rules, regulations, and written policies, which constitute conduct unbecoming a state employee,” including improper receipt of tuition payments and using her position for personal gain in violation of the State Ethics Act. (R. 2-3, 90).

## **II. Procedural History**

After Carla Jackson exhausted SCTCS’s internal grievance procedures,<sup>1</sup> she initiated a grievance of her termination by submitting a State Appeal Form to the State Human Resources Director on July 5, 2017, and she identified her job thereon as an “Interim Dean of Business, Computers, and Related Technologies.”<sup>2</sup> (R. 681-683).

The Director forwarded Jackson's appeal to the State Employee Grievance Committee. (R. 909-911). A four-day hearing on the merits occurred before the Committee over the course of November 28, 2017; February 1-2, 2018; and March 2, 2018. (R. 88). The Committee issued its final decision (referred to as “original decision”) on March 22, 2018, wherein it reversed

---

<sup>1</sup> The SCTCS’s agency procedures provide that it must issue the Step Three/final agency decision for grievances of terminations and certain disciplinary actions administered by the State’s sixteen technical colleges, including DTC.

<sup>2</sup> The full title is cut off, but the description given is “Interim Dean of Business, Computers and Rel.”

Jackson's termination. (R. 88-96). The Committee's conclusions of law contained in the original decision included the following:

- “the former DTC President Boyd-Scotland, the Title III Director, and [Jackson's] immediate supervisor at the time all approved [Jackson's] request for tuition assistance”;
- “Ms. Wise's testimony regarding her tuition assistance application and approval process was very similar to [Jackson's] testimony regarding her tuition assistance application and approval process”;
- “Ms. Wise's completed Request for Professional Development Assistance form ha[d] the same authorizing signatures (DTC President, Title III Director, and immediate supervisor) as [Jackson's] request”;
- “DTC [was] on notice regarding the possibility of [Jackson's] transfer credits being accepted towards her degree at AI[U]” and “it was DTC's responsibility to assess if it would reimburse [Jackson] for her transfer credits”;
- “DTC should have been aware of [Jackson's] transfer credits from Springfield College to AI[U] based on her transcript and [her] reimbursement for the entire cost of her degree”; and
- “The Committee did not find that [Jackson] violated any rules or regulations concerning her . . . tuition reimbursements, therefore, the Committee finds [Jackson] was not unethical in th[is] matte[r].”

(R. 88-96).

On April 19, 2018, SCTCS submitted a motion for reconsideration of the original decision. (R. 126-139). The State Employee Grievance Committee denied the motion for reconsideration in a decision issued August 1, 2018. (R. 99-109). SCTCS subsequently appealed the original decision to the South Carolina Administrative Law Court ("ALC"), which assigned Docket No. 18-ALJ-30-0341-AP to that appeal (“2018 Appeal”), and the parties submitted appellate briefs therein. (R. 1).

In the briefs SCTCS submitted in the 2018 Appeal seeking reversal of the State Employee Grievance Committee's decision, SCTCS argued that the Committee lacked subject

matter jurisdiction to render the original decision because Carla Jackson was not a covered employee under the State Employee Grievance Procedure Act and had no right to a hearing before the Committee under the Act. SCTCS further argued that Jackson's termination was valid because (1) her purported "reimbursement" from DTC for tuition expenses violated applicable policies and the State Ethics Act and (2) Jackson used her position at DTC to obtain financial gain for herself.

Instead of ruling upon the merits of the 2018 Appeal, including whether Jackson engaged in improprieties concerning her tuition "reimbursement" or otherwise violated rules and policies as provided in her termination letter, the ALC issued a limited Remand Order on June 25, 2019, instructing the State Employee Grievance Committee to consider on remand only the specific issue of fact regarding which position – Administrative Coordinator or Interim Dean – Jackson occupied at DTC at the time of her termination. (R. 116-117).

Pursuant to the Remand Order, a limited hearing was held by the State Employee Grievance Committee on January 14, 2020. (R. 119-124). SCTCS was not permitted to make any argument at the remand hearing. (R. 297-298). On February 3, 2020, the Committee issued its finding on remand that Carla Jackson was functioning as an Administrative Coordinator at the time of her termination from DTC. (R. 124). The Committee transmitted its finding directly to the ALC and copied the parties. SCTCS received the finding on February 4, 2020. (R. 125).

By letter dated February 19, 2020, SCTCS submitted two questions to the South Carolina Department of Administration ("DOA"): (1) whether it viewed the State Employee Grievance Committee as having jurisdiction to reconsider the finding and (2) whether it deemed DOA's approval as necessary under S.C. Code Ann. § 8-17-340(F) for SCTCS to appeal or otherwise challenge the finding. (R. 995-996). SCTCS's February 19, 2020 letter also observed that "the

appeal itself has at all times remained pending before the ALC, notwithstanding the limited remand that was given for the Committee to make its finding.” (R. 996). The ALC was copied on this correspondence via e-mail. On March 4, 2020, DOA notified SCTCS’s counsel via e-mail that it answered both the foregoing questions in the negative. (R. 997).

On March 5, 2020, SCTCS filed (1) a “Motion for Supplemental Brief and Motion for an Order Directing the South Carolina Department of Administration to Supplement the Record on Appeal” under the 2018 Appeal’s docket number and (2) a “Notice of Appeal of the State Employee Grievance Committee’s Finding of Fact on Remand.” The Notice of Appeal provided that “[t]o the extent that SCTCS’s present challenge to the Finding may be viewed as a stand-alone appeal, SCTCS requests that it be consolidated with the preexisting appeal of this case ... and that its forthcoming brief be incorporated into SCTCS’s arguments in this case to date.” (R. 34). SCTCS’s motion for supplemental brief likewise provided that “the Finding is a new matter and SCTCS’s grounds to challenge it therefore are in addition to those argued in this case to date.” (R. 37).

The ALC issued a Notice of Assignment on March 12, 2020, assigning a new case number to SCTCS’s March 5, 2020 challenge to the finding on remand but not otherwise acknowledging SCTCS’s foregoing requests contained in the notice of appeal or motion for supplemental brief. (R. 40). In an e-mail to the ALC on March 19, 2020, Jackson’s counsel observed that SCTCS’s notice of appeal and motion for supplemental brief were “intertwined” and sought clarification as to how the motion would be handled. (R. 41-42). On March 24, 2020, the ALC staff informed the parties’ counsel via e-mail that “motions” would not be reviewed “until after the record is filed.” (R. 41). By e-mail to the DOA on April 7, 2020, SCTCS notified DOA and Jackson that it “expected the ALC w[ould] consolidate these appeals

eventually.” (R. 661). The Record on Appeal was served on the parties by DOA on May 26, 2020. (R. 998).

As required by the ALC's March 12, 2020 Notice of Assignment in the current appeal, the parties subsequently briefed the issue of fact determined in the finding concerning Jackson's position at DTC when she was terminated. No ruling was ever issued on SCTCS's motion for supplemental brief or its request to consolidate contained in the Notice of Appeal. On September 23, 2020, the ALC issued its order in which it observed that “in this appeal SCTCS has not challenged the Committee's underlying decision that Jackson was terminated without cause.” (R. 12, n. 4). SCTCS subsequently filed a motion for rehearing, which resulted in the ALC issuing an amended order on December 1, 2020. (R. 14-31). The ALC ruled as follows: "because the Committee's determination that Jackson was a covered employee was supported by substantial evidence in the Record and SCTCS failed to appeal the Committee's underlying decision on the merits of the termination, the Court concludes the Committee's decision must be affirmed." (R. 31).

The Appellant SCTCS thereupon filed a timely appeal to this Court.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal pursuant to the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act is governed by S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5), which provides for appellate review of a final agency action under the following standard:

The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court may affirm the decision of the agency or remand the case for further proceedings. The court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5). The foregoing standard of review is not applicable, however, as to issues of subject matter jurisdiction, including findings of fact incidental to the jurisdictional issues, which are reviewed *de novo*. Moreover, the court's review as to such jurisdictional facts is governed by the preponderance of evidence standard rather than the substantial evidence standard. *Hernandez-Zuniga v. Tickle*, 374 S.C. 235, 647 S.E.2d 691, 694-695 (Ct. App. 2007).

The standard of review for questions of law is *de novo*. The appellate court “may reverse where the decision is affected by any error of law.” *Murphy v. Owens Corning*, 393 S.C. 77, 710 S.E.2d 454, 457 (Ct. App. 2011). The appellate courts are “free to decide matters of law with no

particular deference to the fact finder.” *Id.*

## ARGUMENTS

**I. The Administrative Law Court erred in finding that the Respondent is an employee covered by the State Employee Grievance Procedure Act, and in finding as a result that the State Employee Grievance Committee and the Court had subject matter jurisdiction over the Respondent’s grievance.**

The Appellant SCTCS contends that the State Employee Grievance Committee and the Administrative Law Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because the Respondent Carla Jackson is not an employee covered by the State Employee Grievance Procedure Act and, therefore, had no right to a grievance hearing under the Act.

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