RECEIVED

Jul 12 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Ralph K. Anderson, III Administrative Law Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001689
Case No. 2020ALJ300064AP

South Carolina Technical College System Appellant,

v.

Carla Jackson and South Carolina Department of Administration..... Respondents,

Of whom, Carla Jackson is the Respondent.

RESPONDENT’S FINAL BRIEF

CROMER BABB PORTER & HICKS



Shannon Polvi, Esquire (#101837)
1418 Laurel Street
Post Office Box 11675
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Phone: (803) 799-9530
Fax: (803) 799-9533
Attorney for Respondent Carla Jackson

July 12, 2021

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

The Respondent followed the grievance process according to SCBTE Policy 8-6-100, SCBTE Procedure 8-6-100-1. (R. pp. 691-752). Moreover, prior to determining whether the jurisdictional requirements were met, the State Human Resources Director requested all information surrounding the Respondent's termination, to include policies and steps used for the grievance process. (R. pp. 685, 686). The Appellant complied and had no objections.

The Appellant has failed to preserve their position that the Respondent allegedly did not have grievance rights or rather the State Human Resources Director erred when it was determined that the Respondent met the jurisdictional requirement to appeal or grieve the actions taken. In fact, the Appellant initiated, corresponded, confirmed, and continued to guide the Respondent throughout the grievance process. It is preposterous now for the Appellant to continue to make such claims to this Court and the issue remains unpreserved for appeal. (R. pp. 310 – 657 (hearing transcript)).

Respondent was always keyed and classified as an Administrative Coordinator and she only held the dean roles on an interim basis. Supporting such a conclusion is Ms. Jackson's notification of such interim role on September 21, 2016. (R. p. 935). The letter from the College President states in pertinent part:

Please be informed that you are being **appointed Interim** Dean of Business, Computers, and Related Technologies (BRCT) effective October 1, 2016, **until a permanent Dean of BCRT is hired** to provide leadership for the department.

Your immediate supervisor will remain Mrs. Tia Wright-Richards, Interim Vice President for Academic Affairs. **You will remain at your current salary and in your current position/classification.** but will assumed additional duties of Interim Dean of BCRT. You will continue to receive a **temporary salary adjustment**...

(R. p. 935 (emphasis added)). Similar language is found in the 2015 letter, stating "you will remain at your current salary and in your current position/classification... and receive a temporary salary adjustment...for the duration of your interim appointment... When interviews are being held to

fill the Dean of Transitional Services, please know that you are eligible to apply and be interviewed for the position.” (R. p. 783). Ms. Jackson was not permanently hired for any dean position. Ms. Jackson was never in any other position/classification than an Administrative Coordinator and individuals in such positions are entitled to State Employee Grievance rights. Respondent was not reassigned; she was just given additional duties on a temporary basis. (R. pp. 783, 935).

The College’s last “DTC Departmental Request for Personnel/Payroll Action Form” listed Ms. Jackson as an “Executive Coordinator” synonymous with “Administrative Coordinator” with the Position Number “103363”. (R. p. 917). This personnel action form validates that Respondent was still classified only in her current state position the day prior to the suspension on February 15, 2017. (Id.). The Interim President of the College, Dr. Hall, signed the top of this document on February 14, 2017 identifying Ms. Jackson’s Current Position “Executive Coordinator” and her New Position as “Executive Coordinator” so Ms. Jackson’s position was indisputably a covered position when she was suspended on February 15, 2017 and terminated on May 11, 2017. (Id.).

Dr. McIntyre was the College President during the time frame of the events that the College alleged were the basis of Ms. Jackson’s termination (tuition reimbursement and use of the President’s stamp). Dr. McIntyre testified before the Committee and stated, “When a person receives a new position as interim, they maintain the old position on record until such time that they are appointed full time and permanent to that new area position. In other words, if something were to happen that I would no longer want her to serve as interim then she has the right to go back to her permanent position. That's why the language is there about the current position classification.” (R. p. 489).

Furthermore, Dr. Hall, the Interim President after Dr, McIntyre, sent a letter to Ms. Jackson on February 14, 2017. (R. p. 916). It shows that Dr. Hall suspended Ms. Jackson’s supplemental

pay⁴ for the additional interim duties she was performing one day prior to placing her on an unpaid administrative suspension. (R. pp. 916, 748). The letter from the head of the College expressly states, “You will continue to receive your annualized base pay for the state position to which you were hired.” (R. p. 916). Thus, by Appellant’s very own words, documents, and actions, it acknowledged that Respondent was in a state employee position with grievance rights.

There can be no clearer evidence for relevancy to this issue than the termination letter; therein, Appellant validated Respondent had rights to grieve the actions taken and the termination letter also states Ms. Jackson’s classified position, listed in the second paragraph as “Administrative Coordinator I.” (R. p. 703). Thereafter, the termination letter specifically states, “you have the right to grieve this action should you desire.” (Id.).

At all steps throughout her grievance, the College acknowledged that Ms. Jackson was an employee covered by the State Employee Grievance Procedure Act. At no less than eight separate days of grievance hearings - suspension grievances, termination grievances, and then State Employee Grievance Hearing dates - the College continuously acknowledged that Ms. Jackson was a covered employee.

Dr. Hall, the College’s Interim President, confirmed that Respondent had grievance rights in the First Step Grievance Letter. Ms. Jackson’s first step grievance hearing was held on June 5, 2017. (R. p. 715). Thereafter, on June 6, 2017, Dr. Hall issued his letter upholding Ms. Jackson’s termination and within that letter Dr. Hall stated, “In accordance with the State Board for Technical and Comprehensive Education Policy No. 8-6-100, Grievance Appeal Procures and accompanying

⁴ Ms. Jackson received a temporary 15% salary adjustment to assume the additional duties of Interim Dean from \$48,327 to \$55,576, an amount that was consistent with other College employees performing additional duties in supplement to their current position. (See, for example, R. p. 870 (Lamin Drammeh received an additional \$15,000 for his temporary Director duties that were interim in addition to his Vice President duties)).

Procedure No. 8-6-100.1 Grievances, your client may grieve my decision to Dr. Tim Hardee...” (R. p. 715).

Likewise, Dr. Hardee, SCTC System President, confirmed Respondent had grievance rights and copied Charles Boykins, legal counsel and Kandy Peacock, VP/Chief of HR on such correspondence. (R. p. 706). Dr. Hardee’s Step Two Grievance decision stated in part, “This is the final agency decisions regarding this matter. **Ms. Jackson now has the right to appeal to the State Employee Grievance Committee** by writing to Ms. Kim Aydlette, Director, South Carolina Department of Administration, Division of State Human Resources.” (Id.) (emphasis added).

The College cannot argue that Ms. Jackson was not entitled to grievance rights when the College’s own legal counsel acknowledged that Ms. Jackson was an Administrative Coordinator at the hearing. (R. p. 324). The College’s legal counsel stated, “In fact, the sole purpose that we are here today is the administrative coordinator's position is the only part that's covered.” (Id.).

Thus, there can be no clearer evidence that Ms. Jackson was a covered employee than those described above, in summary: (1) the words of its own legal counsel, (2) all of the personnel documentation preceding Ms. Jackson’s termination that continuously classified Ms. Jackson as a covered employee, (3) at all stages in the grievance proceeding the College acknowledged that Ms. Jackson was a covered employee as an Administrative Coordinator, and (4) the College’s Personnel/Payroll Action Forms memorializing it classified Ms. Jackson as a covered employee. It is beyond the pale of equity for the College now argues that Ms. Jackson is not a covered employee by the State Employee Grievance Procedure Act.

Respondent’s state job classification reflected that she was an Administrative Coordinator at the time of her termination, not an academic dean; therefore, she was a covered employee. Accordingly, the Committee had subject matter jurisdiction, pursuant to S.C. Code § 8-17-340, to

adjudicate Respondent's grievance, because she was a covered employee. The Committee's decision to reverse Respondent's termination was within its statutory authority, it upheld the issue again on remand, and it should be upheld.

4. The Administrative Law Court was correct in finding that Respondent was not limited by the representations in her Grievance Appeal Form. Further, Appellant's position is hypocritical as Appellant asserts it is not similarly bound by its response to Respondent's Grievance Appeal Form.

Appellant argues that Respondent was bound by her identification as an "Interim Dean" on her Grievance Appeal Form. This argument is based upon the Administrative Law Court's instruction on remand, which is as follows:

Parties are judicially bound by their pleadings. The allegations, statements, or admissions contained in a pleading are conclusive as against the pleader and a party cannot subsequently take a position contradictory of, or inconsistent with, his or her pleadings, and the facts which are admitted by the pleadings are taken as true against the pleader for the purpose of the case. A "pleading" includes any required form used to initiate an appeal or other proceeding that constitutes a contested case under the Administrative Procedures Act, including the State Employee Grievance Procedure State Appeal Form.

Appellant cites to *Fisher v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control*; however, the facts of *Fisher* are not analogous to the case at hand. *Fisher v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control*, 309 S.C. 10, 419 S.E.2d 794 (Ct. App. 1992). In *Fisher*, the employee at issue admitted that she had probationary status when she filed for a grievance hearing. *Id.* The only dispositive issue before the *Fisher* Court was whether a probationary employee was entitled to a grievance hearing. *Id.* There is no such debate in this case. All parties have continued to agree that if Respondent was an Administrative Coordinator at the time her termination, she was entitled to a grievance hearing.

Appellant also cites to *Towles v. United Healthcare Corp.* in support of its position. Again, the facts of *Towles* are not analogous. *Towles v. United Healthcare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 524 S.E.2d 839 (Ct. App. 1999). In *Towles*, the plaintiff attempted to contradict a fact alleged in his complaint

related to who his employer was, with an after-the-fact affidavit. The *Towles* court dealt with this issue in the first footnote. The dispositive issue in *Towles* was whether the plaintiff was compelled to arbitrate by way of an employee handbook.

Even if Respondent was bound to her Grievance Appeal Form, such a situation would not resolve this case in Appellant's favor. Respondent's Grievance Appeal Form is correct, her job duties assigned at that time were those of the *Interim* Dean. That is a factual allegation of Respondent's day-to-day work, not a legal conclusion as to whether she was a covered employee. As the ALC correctly noted, "substance prevails over form and a party is not bound by admissions or averments of legal conclusions in his or her pleadings." 71 C.J.S. *Pleading* § 89. The facts of this case, as discussed above, overwhelmingly demonstrate that Appellant itself acknowledged the fact that Respondent's placement into the Interim Dean position was temporary. Appellant has repeatedly acknowledged, through its management and counsel, that Respondent continued to be classified as an Administrative Coordinator, a position entitled to grievance rights.

Furthermore, as acknowledged by the ALC, Appellant's position on this issue is hypocritical. If Respondent was to be strictly bound to her Grievance Appeal Form, so to would Appellant need to be strictly bound to their response to the Grievance Appeal Form. Appellant stated in its response, "Through our review it was determined that Ms. Jackson's state classification title is Administrative Coordinator I." Similar to every step of this re-hashing of the same issues, Appellant continues to argue that it should not be taken at its word, and its own executive-level employees should not be trusted, when they repeatedly admit that Respondent is a covered employee. Such arguments are disingenuous, hypocritical, and should be disregarded by this Court.

5. Appellant did not properly preserve the issues raised in its 2018 Appeal.

When Appellant appealed the decision of the Committee’s determination on remand, it failed to raise the merits of the Committee’s decision that Respondent was wrongfully terminated as an issue for appeal. It is the practice of this jurisdiction that a Court does not retain jurisdiction after a remand unless jurisdiction is specifically reserved. *See, Leviner v. Sonoco Prod. Co.*, 339 S.C. 492, 494, 530 S.E.2d 127, 128 (2000) (“Under Rule 59(e), SCRCP, the trial judge has only ten days from entry of judgment to alter or amend an earlier order on his own initiative absent a ‘reservation’ of jurisdiction in the form order.”). No such reservation took place in this case.

Appellant mistakenly cites to *Bobo v. Marshane Corp.* 302 S.C. 86, 88, 394 S.E.2d 2, 4 (Ct. App. 1990). *Bobo* is not persuasive in this case. *Id.* As the ALC identified, *Bobo* was a factually distinct case dealing with application of workers’ compensation law. This is not a workers’ compensation case, and there is no other precedent in South Carolina for a court retaining jurisdiction after a remand.

Appellant claims to have made a motion to consolidate the two appeals. As the ALC points out, however, “[Appellant] never made a formal motion to consolidate the case.” Appellant points to one sentence in its notice of appeal as evidence of a motion to consolidate. One sentence in a document, which was not a motion, cannot constitute a motion upon which the ALC may rule. Appellant did not timely follow up on its one-sentence request. Appellant claims that it did not know whether to raise the issues from the 2018 appeal in this case. As the ALC notes:

If [Appellant] was not sure what issues it needed to raise again, if any, it would seem prudent to have raised any and all possible issues, or filed a formal motion, rather than to have relied on a one-sentence request in a Notice of Appeal. To the extent [Appellant] was prejudiced, the prejudice resulted from its own actions, or rather, inactions.

(R. p. 21).

Appellant also points to the fact that, in the alternative to a motion to consolidate, it requested (again with only one sentence) to treat the appeals as already consolidated, and to file a supplemental brief. The ALC identifies,

Regardless, in SCTCS's Notice of Appeal, as part of its explanation of its Motion, SCTCS asked that it be allowed to submit a supplemental brief "on the issues identified herein." The issues SCTCS identified were the issues it wanted to raise with regard to the Committee's decision on Remand, which it then proceeded to raise in its Appellant's Brief filed on July 27, 2020. Therefore, SCTCS was not prejudiced by this Court's failure to rule on its Motion because SCTCS raised the issues it sought permission to raise in a supplemental brief in its Appellant's Brief and those issues were thoroughly considered by this Court and ruled upon in its September 2020 order.

(R. p. 22).

In sum, Appellant has been heard on these issues on numerous occasions. At every step, Appellant's position has failed because the evidence does not support it. Furthermore, Appellant has failed to preserve the additional issues raised in its 2018 appeal to the ALC. Appellant should not be allowed to have what would now be an eighth bite at the apple.

6. The Committee's decision passes all permissible scrutiny under S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5).

Assuming, without conceding, that Appellant may properly argue the merits of the Committee's underlying determination the Plaintiff was wrongfully terminated, the Committee's decision is supported by substantial evidence in the record. The evidence has continuously shown that Ms. Jackson was a state employee with grievance rights and the College prejudiced Ms. Jackson's substantial rights and that she met one or more of the required elements for the reversal of the College's termination of her employment.

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